COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MINUTES of the meeting of Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing Scrutiny Committee held at Committee Room 1, Town Hall, Hereford on Wednesday, 26th July, 2006 at 10.00 a.m.

Present: Councillor Mrs. M.D. Lloyd-Hayes (Chairman)

Councillor Mrs. P.A. Andrews (Vice Chairman)

Councillors: Mrs. E.M. Bew, K.G. Grumbley, J.W. Hope MBE, R. Mills,

Ms. G.A. Powell and P.G. Turpin

In attendance: Councillors Mrs. L.O. Barnett, T.M. James, W.J.S. Thomas and

R.M. Wilson.

13. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillor R.B.A. Burke.

14. NAMED SUBSTITUTES

There were no named substitutes.

15. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor P.G. Turpin declared a personal interest in agenda item 6: Learning Disability Service – Scrutiny Review.

16. MINUTES

RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 2nd June, 2006 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

17. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE SCRUTINY

There were no suggestions from members of the public.

18. LEARNING DISABILITY SERVICE - SCRUTINY REVIEW

(Councillor P.G. Turpin declared a personal interest in this item.)

The Committee considered the final report of the scrutiny review of services for people with a learning disability.

An interim report had been presented to the Committee on 2nd June 2006 identifying emerging themes from the review which had been undertaken by the Committee as a whole. Following further discussions these had now been consolidated into recommendations to the Cabinet Member (Social Care Adults and Health).

The Head of Adult Social Care presented the report commenting in detail on each of the recommendations.

In the course of discussion the following principal points were made:

- That the review had highlighted the scope to achieve efficiencies in the use of transport provided for service users, also recognising that the greater use of public transport would promote a more inclusive approach benefiting service users. The final review report needed to reflect this finding. It was noted that a review of social care transport was underway and that progress would be reported as part of any report back to the Committee on the Executive's response to the review.
- It was proposed that additional recommendations were needed to make explicit how the Committee would require the response to its recommendations to the Executive to be monitored.

RESOLVED:

- That (a) the findings of the review of services for people with a learning disability be approved for submission to the Cabinet Member (Social Care Adults and Health) subject to additional text being added on the scope to achieve efficiencies in the use of transport provided for service users;
 - (b) the Executive's response to the Review including an action plan be reported to the first available meeting of the Committee after the Executive has approved its response;

and

(c) a further report on progress in response to the Review then be made after six months with consideration then being given to the need for any further reports to be made.

19. WORK PROGRAMME

The Committee considered its work programme.

The current work programme was appended to the report.

The report noted discussions being held by the Strategic Monitoring Committee on how work programmes might better reflect Council-wide themes and issues identified as priority areas.

The Director of Adult and Community Services reported that following an informal meeting of the Strategic Monitoring Committee it had been suggested that in addition to focusing on the important theme of homelessness, the Adult Social Care and Housing Scrutiny Committee should lead on the following key themes:

- Every Child Matters (examining matters including the transition from social care to adult life, the exchange of information between schools and social workers, whether plans being put in place with the Council's partners are working well in practice and whether the Council is fulfilling its corporate parent role?).
- Older Peoples Strategy and Improving Adult Social Care (examining whether
 the strategy is robust enough, how it fits with the Council's medium term financial
 Strategy, what the implications are for other services, and what is the view of

the assessments of adult social care needs and services that are being produced, including the wider implications for health services and housing.)

It was noted that the extensive work programme would require additional administrative support and considerable input from Members.

RESOLVED: That work proceed to develop and progress the work programme incorporating the key themes set out above.

20. BUDGET REPORT 2006/7

The Committee considered a report on the current budget position in Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing.

The report stated that the projected outturn for adult social care was an overspend of $\mathfrak{L}3.4$ million. Paragraph 3 of the report detailed the overspends on Learning Disabilities, Older People, Physical Disabilities, Mental Health and Service Strategy. It noted the consideration given to the adult social care budget by Cabinet on 29th June and the variations to the forecast budget position.

Changes to the risk sharing aspects of the Section 31 Agreements with the Primary Care Trust for 2006/07 were also referred to in the report. In the case of Mental Health this meant that any overspend relating to the Council's proportion of the mental health service expenditure would not be funded by the Primary Care Trust (PCT) and the whole risk would fall to the Council. In the case of the learning disabilities service the Council carried the full financial risk for the Council and PCT outturn position.

The Assistant County Treasurer commented that it was early in the financial year and drew attention to ongoing efforts to manage the overspend. He reminded the Committee that the findings of the analysis of adult social care needs and services were expected by the end of the Summer. Work to draw on the experience of high performing authorities was also continuing. The focus was on the longer term and the introduction of preventative measures which would reduce demand for services.

The projected outturn for Strategic Housing was an overspend of £83,000 although it was noted that if demand for temporary accommodation increased this would create pressures. Attention was drawn to the success of measures introduced to reduce the number of people presenting themselves as homeless.

In the ensuing discussion the following principal points were made:

• The findings of a recent internal audit of budget management in social care were welcomed. It was suggested that these findings demonstrated that the difficulties in the social care budget were not a result of poor financial management but were clearly a consequence of increasing demand for services. Concern was expressed that there had been undue delay in reaching this conclusion and that the restrictions on services as a consequence had had a detrimental impact. The position would not be remedied until priorities changed and resources for social care were added to the base budget.

It was noted that in October 2005 the Committee had urged that there should be a careful reassessment of the budget with a view to establishing a realistic budget for 2006/7. It was asked why at such an early stage in the 2006/7 financial year such a large overspend was projected.

It was also asked whether the projected overspend assumed that the contingency for social care which had been created as part of the 2006/07 budget had been spent.

The Director of Adult and Community Services replied that in 2005/6 Cabinet had felt itself to be faced with monthly reports showing ever-increasing overspends on the social care budget. The view had been taken that a different approach was needed and the figures presented to the Committee were assessed to be the worst case scenario. It remained the case, however, that the budget was volatile, with the potential for one service user with significant needs to incur significant expenditure.

The projected overspend did not take account of the £1.3 million contingency sum for social care established by the Council in setting the 2006/7 budget, £1 million of which was nominally earmarked for adult social care with the remainder for Children's Services. Allowing for these resources and management action the expectation was that the projected overspend would be reduced to about £2 million. In setting the budget for 2006/7 there had been an awareness of projected pressures but a balance had had to be struck by the Council given the constraints and pressures on the Council's budget as a whole.

- A question was asked about the unit costs of services and the extent to which these were used as a basis of comparison with other authorities. The Head of Adult Social Care confirmed that comparative unit costs were analysed. She reminded the Committee of the comparatively high unit costs in the County for the provision of services to people with a learning disability because of the disproportionate number of people in residential care. She outlined some of the knock on effects on the Council's finances because of the inability to claim certain benefits and the ineligibility for certain grants as a consequence.
- A question was asked about the forecast trends for the areas of overspend set out in paragraph 3 of the report. The Head of Adult Social Care replied that the Learning Disability budget was unpredictable. It was sensitive to the needs of individuals, some of which were very complex, and the prospect of a number of older carers ceasing to be able to act as carers was another factor. The overspend on the budget for older people could also increase given the demographic pressures within the County. The overspend on physical disabilities could increase for the same reasons as expenditure on older people. There was scope for change by reducing the amount of residential care and providing support in other ways. The right type of housing was needed to support this change and a housing strategy was being developed. In terms of mental health expenditure the proportion of people requiring care was increasing and the Council was working with the Primary Care Trust on the issues. The overspend on Service Strategy was not expected to increase.
- Concern was expressed about the consequences of setting thresholds for eligibility at too high a level. It was suggested that providing services at a lower threshold might enable preventative measures to be taken which in addition to being preferable for the person needing care would also be more cost effective.

In reply the Head of Adult Social Care said that the Council was not alone in setting a threshold whereby only those with critical and substantial needs were eligible for care. However, the need to move to an emphasis on preventative measures, reducing reliance on social care and encouraging greater independence was recognised. The findings of the analysis of adult social care needs and services would inform consideration of the options open to the

Council.

- The success of the prevention team within the homelessness section and the creation of a specific fund to help to prevent people going into temporary accommodation was welcomed.
- It was asked why there had been changes to the risk sharing aspects of the Section 31 Agreements with the PCT for 2006/7 for both Mental Health and Learning Disabilities, with what appeared to be an unfavourable outcome for the Council.

The Director commented that the risk sharing agreement had been changed because the Council had not been able to meet the additional level of investment required for the PCT to take the full risk. The social care contingency fund could be drawn on if necessary. Some pressures had been identified but it was still possible that these could be met through efficiency savings by the PCT and further negotiation.

The Cabinet Member (Social Care Adults and Health) said that she had pursued the matter during negotiations but unfortunately it had not proved possible to find the additional investment necessary.

Concern was expressed at what appeared to be a short-sighted approach, increasing the financial risk to the Council, and it was requested that a briefing paper on the Section 31 arrangements be circulated to every member of the Committee.

- In response to a question about the prospect of changes to the delivery of learning disability services generating savings in the current financial year the Director commented that whilst the majority of the expected savings would be achieved in future years it was expected that there would be some saving in the current year.
- It was noted that Mrs P Turvey (Social Services Accountant) who had dealt with social care finances for the Council and its predecessors for some 44 years had retired. The Committee recorded its thanks for such long service.

RESOLVED:

That (a) the report on the Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing budget be noted whilst recording the Committee's concerns and emphasising the Committee's wish to keep the budget under continuing review;

and

(b) a briefing paper on the rationale for the changes to the risk sharing agreements with the Primary Care Trust for Mental Health and Learning Disabilities services be circulated to Members of the Committee.